INTHE UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS
EASTERN DIVISION

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
and

STATE OF ILLINOIS, ex rel.
Attorney Generd JAMESE. RYAN,

Plantiffs,
Civil Action No.

V.

MERCANTILE MORTGAGE COMPANY, INC.
an lllinois corporation,

BRAN SILVEOUS, and RONALD NOBLE,

individudly and as officers of Mercantile
Mortgage Company, Inc.,

Defendants.

N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N

COMPLAINT FOR PERMANENT INJUNCTION AND OTHER EQUITABLE RELIEF

Faintiffs, the United States of America, acting upon natification and authorization to the
Attorney Generd by the Federd Trade Commission (“FTC” or “Commission”) and the Secretary of
the Department of Housing and Urban Development (“HUD”), and the State of 1llinais, by their
undersigned attorneys, dlege asfollows:

1. Thisisan action under Sections 5(8)(1), 13(b), 16(a), and 19(a)(1) of the Federa
Trade Commission Act (“FTC Act”), 15 U.S.C. 88 45(a)(1), 53(b), 56(a), and 57b(a)(1), and Section

108(c) of the Truth in Lending Act (“TILA”), 15 U.S.C. § 1607(c), to secure permanent injunctive



relief and other equitable rdief, including restitution and disgorgement, againgt Defendants for engaging
inunfair or deceptive acts or practicesin violation of Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a);
engaging in violations of the TILA, 15 U.S.C. 88 1601-1666], as amended; engaging in violations of
the Home Ownership and Equity Protection Act (“HOEPA”), 15 U.S.C. § 1639; engaging in violations
of the TILA’simplementing Regulation Z (*Regulation Z”), 12 C.F.R. § 226, as anended; and
engaging in violations of the Commisson’s Trade Regulation Rule Concerning Credit Practices (“ Credit
Practices Rule’ or “CPR”), 16 C.F.R. § 444.

2. Thisisan action under Section 8(d)(4) of the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act of
1974 (“RESPA”), 12 U.S.C. § 2607(d)(4), to secure Satutory remedies, permanent injunctive relief,
and other equitable rdief againg Defendant Mercantile for engaging in violations of Section 8 of
RESPA, 12 U.S.C. § 2607, and the Department of Housing and Urban Devel opment’ s Regulation X
(“Regulation X”), 24 C.F.R. 8§ 3500.14.

3. Thisis an action under the lllinois Consumer Fraud and Deceptive Practices Act, 815
ILCS 505/1 et seg., and Section 130(e) of the TILA, 15 U.S.C. § 1640(e), to secure permanent
injunctive relief and other equitable rdief, including restitution and disgorgement, against Defendants for
engaging in unfair or deceptive acts or practicesin violation of 815 ILCS 505/2 and engaging in
violations of the HOEPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1639.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

4, This court has subject matter jurisdiction over the clams of the United States under 28
U.S.C. 88 1331, 1337(a), and 1345, under 15 U.S.C. 88 45(a)(1), 53(b), 57b, and 1607(c), and

under 12 U.S.C. § 2614; and over the claims of the State of Illinois under 28 U.S.C. 8 1367 and under



15 U.S.C. § 1640(e).
5. Venueis proper in the United States Didtrict Court for the Northern Digtrict of llinois

under 15 U.S.C. § 53(b) and 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) and (c).



10. Defendant Rondd Noble is Vice Chairman of Mercantile. Individudly, or in concert
with others, he formulates, directs, controls, or participatesin the acts and practices of Mercantile's
mortgage lending business, including the acts and practices dleged in this complaint. His principd place

of businessislocated at 851 Trafagar Court, Suite 132, Maitland, Florida 32751.



substantia broker fees — often as high as 8 to 10% of the loan amount. Typicdly, these broker fees are
financed by the borrower and paid from Mercantile to the brokers out of the loan proceeds at closing.
After Mercantil€ s loan officers and brokers complete a loan gpplication on behdf of the consumer,
Mercantile reviews the loan gpplication. If Mercantile approves the application, the loan is extended in
Mercantile's name.

14.



Diamond. From May 30, 1998 to August 31, 1999, Diamond also conducted the loan closings on
behalf of Mercantile for over 100 Mercantile loans.

17. A ggnificant number of loans originated by Mercantile are high-rate or high-fee loans
covered by the Home Ownership and Equity Protection Act (“HOEPA”). The HOEPA appliesto
high-cost refinancing and home equity loans that are secured by the borrower’ s principd dweling,
including loans where the total points and fees payable by the borrower exceed 8% of the total loan
amount. If aloan qudifies as ahigh-cost Ioan under the HOEPA, the lender is required to provide to
the consumer, three business days before closing, specific disclosures, which must include certain loan
terms and the statement that the consumer could lose his or her home as aresult of entering into the
transaction (*HOEPA Disclosures’).

18. Mercantil€ s loan officers and Diamond routingly solicit low-income individuas,
including dderly persons and individuas who have significant equity in their homes, and who may not
otherwise be consgdering a home equity loan. Mercantile' s loan officers and Diamond have engaged in
numerous deceptive practices and other violations of law to induce consumers to take out Mercantile
loans. Within ashort time after closing a Mercantile loan, Mercantil€ s loan officers or Diamond often
have re-contacted the customer and induced or attempted to induce the customer again to refinance
their loans with Mercantile. With each refinancing, substantia points and fees have been charged and
added to the loan baance, often resulting in continualy higher loan amounts and/or monthly mortgage
payments.

19. In many ingtances, Mercantil€ s loan officers and Diamond have misrepresented the

terms and costs of the Mercantile loans. For example, they have represented that the consumer will



obtain aloan with a specified monthly payment amount, interest rate, or term of repayment. Insteed, in
many ingances, the consumer has obtained aloan with a sgnificantly higher monthly payment amount or
interest rate, or acompletdy different term of repayment, than that previoudy promised. In many
ingances, Mercantile' s loan officers and Diamond have fasaly represented that the monthly payment
amount of the new loan would include the payment into an escrow account for property taxes and
insurance, when in fact it does not. In some instances, they have fasely represented the amount of cash
the consumer will receive out of the loan proceedsto pay off hisor her creditors or to pay for needed
home repairs. Ingtead, the consumer has received significantly less cash out of the loan proceeds than
that previoudy promised.

20. A ggnificant number of Mercantile’ s mortgege loans have been 15-year loans requiring
alarge lump-sum “baloon” payment at the end of the term (“15-year baloon loans’). The 15-year
baloon loans have had payment schedules with regular monthly payments of principa and interest that
are goproximately equd in vaue and afina payment that is substantialy larger than the other payments.
Thus, at the end of the term, the consumer will owe alarge lump sum payment thet is usudly greater
than 80% of the loan principal.

21. In many ingtances, Mercantil€ s loan officers and Diamond have misrepresented the
exisence of the baloon payment, in one or more of the following ways.

a by representing that the loan’s payment schedule consists only of a specified
monthly payment schedule, without disclosing the baloon payment;
b. by representing that the loan principa would be fully paid off a the end of the

loan term, when that is not the case; and



C. by representing that the loan does not contain a balloon payment.

22. Many of Mercantile's 15-year balloon loans fall under the definition of a high-rate or
high-fee loan within the coverage of the HOEPA. For such HOEPA-covered balloon loans, the
HOEPA requires the creditor to disclose the existence and amount of the balloon payment on the
HOEPA Disclosures. However, until about May 2000, Mercantile s HOEPA Disclosures routingy
falled to disclose the existence of the balloon payment for its HOEPA-covered 15-year balloon loans.

23. Moreover, in many instances, Mercantile has failed to provide the consumer with the
required HOEPA Disclosures. In other instances, Mercantile has failed to provide the HOEPA
Disclosures three business days in advance of closng, in violation of the HOEPA.

24.  Attheloan closng, Mercantile, directly or through an agent acting on its behdf, has
presented to the consumer for Sgnature alarge stack of 1oan closing documents that has never been
shown to the consumer before. Among these documents is the mortgage note itself, which containsa
“Bdloon Rider” or “Baloon Note” on each 15-year balloon loan. Many consumers have not noticed
the Baloon Rider or Balloon Note. In those ingtances when the consumer has inquired about the
baloon payment, Mercantile sloan officer or agent in many ingances has misrepresented the meaning
of the term to assuage the consumer’ s concern.

25. Under the Truth in Lending Act, a creditor is required to provide the consumer, prior to
consummeation of aloan transaction, with written disclosures of certain loan terms, including the annua
percentage rate, finance charge, and payment schedule (as defined in Section 226.18 of Regulation Z,

12 C.F.R. § 226.18) (“TILA Disclosures’). In many instances, Mercantile has failed to provide the



consumer with these TILA Disclosures prior to consummation of the loan transaction, or at any time
after the dogang.

26.  Virtudly dl of Mercantil€ s 15-year baloon loans have contained significant
prepayment pendties in the event the consumer refinances the loan within the firgt three years. In many
instances, Mercantile€ s loan officers and Diamond have misrepresented that the consumer can pay off
the loan early without paying a pendty.

27. Diamond, while soliciting loans on behdf of Dolphin, and, later, doing busness as OS,
acted as Mercantile s agent in both brokering and closing loans on behdf of Mercantile. For example,
Diamond referred virtudly every customer he procured to Mercantile from January 1998 to October
1999, and referred the vast mgority of his customers to Mercantile from November 1999 to August
2000. For every loan transaction, Mercantile automeaticaly approved Diamond' s broker fee, typicaly
10% of the loan amount.

28. For over 100 Mercantile loan transactions, Mercantile, expressy or by implication,

authorized Diamond to conduct the closing on Mercantile s behdf. These Mercantile closngstypicdly






d. aloan with no prepayment pendties;

e a gpecified amount of cash for disbursement to the borrower, and/or a specified
amount of cash for disbursement on behalf of the borrower to third-party
creditors and/or home improvement companies, and

f. amonthly payment amount that includes the payment into an escrow account
for property taxes and insurance.

32. In truth and in fact, in many ingtances, consumers did not obtain aloan on the specified
loan terms, or at the specified codts. Instead, they recelved loans on substantidly different terms,
and/or at subgtantidly different costs, including but not limited to:

a aloan whose payment schedule does not consist only of the regular monthly
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Therefore, Defendants representations, as dleged in paragraph 31, were, and are, fase or mideading.
33. Defendants' practices congtitute deceptive acts or practicesin or affecting commercein
violation of Section 5(a) of the Federd Trade Commission Act, 15 U.S.C. 8§ 45(3).

HOME OWNERSHIP AND EQUITY PROTECTION ACT VIOLATIONS

Count Two
(By Raintiffs United States of Americaand State of Illinois)

34. In the course of offering and extending credit to consumers, Mercantile has violated the
HOEPA and Regulation Z by failing to provide materid information required by the HOEPA and
Regulation Z. Specificaly:

A. Mercantile in many ingtances has failed to disclose the existence of a balloon
payment, in violation of Section 129(a)(2)(A) of the TILA, 15U.SC. §
1639(a)(2)(A), and Section 226.32(c)(3) of Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R.

§ 226.32(c)(3); and

B. Mercantile in many ingtances has failed to provide consumers the disclosures
required by the HOEPA, or has failed to provide such disclosures not less than
three business days before consummation of the transaction, in violation of
Sections 129(a) and (b) of the TILA, 15 U.S.C. 88 1639(a) and (b), and
Sections 226.31(c) and 226.32(c) of Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R. 88 226.31(c)
and 226.32(c).

35. Pursuant to Section 108(c) of the TILA, 15 U.S.C. § 1607(c), every violation of the

HOEPA and Regulation Z condtitutes a violation of the FTC Act.
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36. By engaging in the violations of the HOEPA and Regulation Z st forth in paragraph 34,
above, Defendant Mercantile dso has engaged in unfair or deceptive acts or practicesin violation of
Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a).

TRUTH IN LENDING ACT VIOLATIONS

Count Three
(By Plantiff United States of America)
37. In the course of offering and extending credit to consumers, Mercantile has violated the
TILA and Regulation Z by falling to provide disclosures required by the TILA and Regulation Z.
Specificdly:

A. Mercantile in many ingtances has faled to provide the disclosures required by
the TILA, or hasfailed to provide such disclosuresin aform the consumer can
keep, in violation of Section 128(a) of the TILA, 15 U.S.C. § 1638(a), and
Sections 226.17 and 226.18 of Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R. 88 226.17 and
226.18; and

B. Mercantile in many ingtances has failed to disclose on the Truth in Lending
Statement that it has taken a security interest in certain persona property, in
violation of Section 128(a)(9) of the TILA, 15 U.S.C. § 1638(a)(9), and
Section 226.18(m) of Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R. § 226.18(m).

38. Pursuant to Section 108(c) of the TILA, 15 U.S.C. § 1607(c), every violation of the
TILA and Regulation Z condtitutes aviolation of the FTC Act.

39. By engaging in the violations of the TILA and Regulation Z s&t forth in paragraph 37,
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above, Defendant Mercantile also has engaged in unfair or deceptive acts or practices in violation of
Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a).

CREDIT PRACTICESRULE VIOLATIONS

Count Four

14



44, By engaging in the practices sat forth in paragraphs 15 and 16, above, in many
instances, Defendant Mercantile gave to and/or accepted from Diamond a fee, kickback, or thing of
vaue pursuant to an agreement or understanding that business incident to or a part of ared edtate
settlement service involving federdly related mortgage loans would be referred to aperson in violaion
of Section 8(a) of the Red Estate Settlement Procedures Act of 1974, 12 U.S.C. 8 2607(a).

ILLINOISCONSUMER FRAUD AND DECEPTIVE PRACTICESACT

Count Sx
(By Raintiff Sate of Illinois)
45, By engaging in the practices set forth in paragraphs 31 and 32, above, Defendants have
engaged in deceptive acts or practices in or affecting commerce in violation of Section 505/2 of the
Illinois Consumer Fraud and Deceptive Business Practices Act, 815 ILCS 505/2.

CONSUMER INJURY

46.  Consumers have suffered, and will continue to suffer, substantial injury as aresult of
Defendants' violations of the FTC Act, the Illinois Consumer Fraud and Deceptive Practices Adt,
TILA, HOEPA, Regulation Z, and CPR as st forth above.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff United States of America, pursuant to Sections 5(a), 13(b), and
19(a)(1) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. 88 45(a), 53(b), and 57b(a)(1), Section 108(c) of the TILA, 15
U.S.C. § 1607(c), Section 8(d)(4) of the RESPA, 12 U.S.C. § 2607(d)(4), and the Court’s own
equitable powers, and Plaintiff State of 1llinois pursuant to the Illinois Consumer Fraud and Deceptive

Practices Act, Section 130(e) of the TILA, 15 U.S.C. § 1640(e), and the Court’s own equitable
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powers, request that this Court:

1 Enter judgment againg Defendants and in favor of Plaintiffs for each violaion dleged in
this complaint;

2. Permanently enjoin and restrain Defendants from violating the FTC Act and the lllinois
Consumer Fraud and Deceptive Practices Act;

3. Permanently enjoin and restrain Defendant Mercantile from violating the TILA,
HOEPA, Regulation Z, CPR, and RESPA,;

4, Find Defendants jointly and severdly lidble for redressto al borrowers who were
injured as aresult of their violations, as appropriate;

5. Award such relief as the Court deems necessary to prevent unjust enrichment and to
redress borrower injury resulting from Defendants’ violations of the FTC Act, the Illinois Consumer
Fraud and Business Practices Act, the HOEPA, the TILA and Regulation Z, the CPR, and the RESPA
including, but not limited to, refund of monies paid and disgorgement of ill-gotten gains, and

6. Award Rlantiffsther cogts of bringing this action, as well as such other relief as may be

just and proper.
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Dated: Respectfully submitted,
FOR THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA:
PATRICK J. FITZGERALD

United States Attorney
Northern Digtrict of lllinois

Assgtant United States Attorney
219 S. Dearborn Street, 5™ floor
Chicago, IL 60604
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Washington, DC 20410



